, i FILED Mar 17, 2016 Court of Appeals Division 1 State of Washington



No. 72342-1-I

No. 42900.9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEVEN LODIS and DEBORAH LODIS, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

CORBIS HOLDINGS, INC., a Washington corporation, CORBIS CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation; and GARY SHENK, an individual,

Defendants/Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S.

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 Mark W. Rose, WSBA #41916 Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Plaintiffs/Petitioners

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Steven Lodis, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Lodis seeks review of the published opinion of the Court of Appeals entered on December 28, 2015 ("the Opinion" or "Op."). A copy of the Opinion is in the Appendix, attached at pages A-1 through A-30.¹

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue No. 1: Is an issue of substantial public interest presented when the Court of Appeals adopts and applies the after-acquired evidence affirmative defense articulated by the United States Supreme Court to cases brought under the Washington Law Against Discrimination?

Issue No. 2: Is the Court of Appeals statement, "An employer can avoid back pay and other remedies by coming forward with afteracquired evidence of an employee's misconduct, ... if it can prove ...that the wrongdoing was of such severity that the employee in fact would have been terminated on those grounds alone if the employer had known of it at the time of the discharge" (A-25–A-26) in conflict with the Supreme Court statement, "An employer may be motivated by multiple purposes,

¹ The Court of Appeals denial of Lodis's motion for reconsideration is attached as A-31.

both legitimate and illegitimate, when making employment decisions and still be liable under the WLAD" in <u>Scrivener v. Clark Coll.</u>, 181 Wn.2d 439, 447, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)?

<u>Issue No. 3</u>: Does the Court of Appeals' opinion, affirming the admission of a prior jury verdict on a breach of fiduciary duty counterclaim based on finding that the verdict was the law of the case and was "*relevant*" to Corbis's after-acquired evidence defense (A-24 – A-25), conflict with Division III's decision in <u>Roper v. Mabry</u>, 15 Wn. App. 819, 820-23, 551 P.2d 1381; conflict with Division II's decision in <u>MGIC Fin.</u> <u>Corp. v. H. A. Briggs Co.</u>, 24 Wn. App. 1, 8, 600 P.2d 573 (1979); and conflict with the Supreme Court decision in <u>In re Det. of Pouncy</u>, 168 Wn.2d 382, 392-94, 229 P.3d 678 (2010)?

Issue No. 4: Did the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Servs.</u>, Inc., 164 Wn.2d 432, 444-46, 191 P.3d 879 (2008)?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Factual Background.

· ,

In July 2005, Steve Lodis began working for Corbis as Vice President of Worldwide Human Resources. 5/21 RP at 14. "By all accounts, [Corbis's] HR function by the time Steve Lodis took the position of VP was in somewhat of a state of disarray." CP 1069. In about April 2007, Gary Shenk became CEO of Corbis. 5/21 RP

at 15; see also CP 401. Shenk was 37 years old.² He conducted a midyear

performance evaluation of Steve Lodis in summer of 2007 that was

•

glowing, calling Lodis a "trusted advisor," that Lodis "took a department

that was in shambles, and built up a good team," and that Lodis was "a

beacon of 'calm' and 'normalcy' - ending the madness and hyperactivity

of many Corbis activities." Ex. 47; 5/15 RP at 76-77. Shenk announced

Lodis's promotion to "SVP, Human Resources" on November 7, 2007.

Ex. 53. At the time, Shenk "believed Lodis was the man for the job." 5/15

RP at 133. However, less than four months later on March 26, 2008,

Shenk terminated Lodis, allegedly "for cause." 5/15 RP at 201.

After becoming CEO, Shenk made many comments indicating his preference for younger workers. He talked about older workers being 'out of touch,' 'an old-timer,' 'grandmotherly,' or 'the old guy on [the] team.' Shenk also expressed interest to Lodis in hiring younger workers for his executive team. Lodis spoke with Shenk on several occasions about Shenk's age related comments. Lodis explained that there was a growing concern among Corbis employees about Shenk's comments. As the highest ranking HR officer at Corbis, Lodis reminded Shenk that age should not be a factor in hiring or firing employees.

Op., at A-2, quoting Lodis I, 172 Wn. App. at 842-43.

"Lodis testified that, in late November or early December 2007, he

admonished Shenk for a *fifth* time after Shenk expressed that he wished to

² Op., at 2, *quoting* Lodis v. Corbis Holdings, Inc., 172 Wn. App. 835, 842, 292 P.3d 779 (2013) ("Lodis I").

replace the then-senior vice president of Corbis's 'Green Light Division' [Mark Sherman] with a 'young Hollywood type.'" Op., at A-5; 5/21 RP at 25. CEO Shenk, for his part, denied Lodis ever once admonished him. *See* Op., at A-4–A-6. Lodis testified that in early December 2007, he went to Senior VP and General Counsel Jim Mitchell to report his concerns about Shenk's terminations of older employees: Wil Merritt, David Bradley, Sue McDonald, and Mark Sherman, and Shenk's age-based comments ("I want to replace him with a young Hollywood type," referencing Mark Sherman). 5/21 RP at 26-27; Lodis I, 172 Wn.App. at 843, n.1, *quoting* CP 2521. Mitchell denied such conversation ever occurred. Op., at A-6.

On December 26, 2007, Shenk contacted consultant Dawn McNab to do a "360" evaluation of his executive team, but in a violation of convention, Shenk wanted the evaluation done to create data for a performance review. 5/15 RP at 93-95; 5/20 RP at 104-05 (2/25/10 RP at 31, 45-46). McNab opposed this idea because a 360, where information is provided anonymously, is supposed to provide a safe environment for constructive input. 2/25/10 RP at 13, 19-20, 22-23, 44-45; *see also* 5/15 RP at 137-38, 190. Waldron and Company, for whom McNab worked as a consultant, later disavowed her work on this 360. Ex. 118.

Shenk focused on Lodis and Mark Sherman. Ex. 88. In another break from procedure, Shenk selected which members of his executive

team would be interviewed for the 360 evaluation of Lodis. Ex. 71; 5/21 RP at 30-31; CP 2522 (¶ 32). Shenk picked Kirsten Lawlor and Jim Mitchell, both of whom were Lodis detractors. Ex. 71; 5/15 RP at 83-84; CP 2522; Ex. 367. Shenk ignored the positive evaluations and asked McNab to make a list of Lodis's "weaknesses," which she did, and again which was not a part of a normal practice. CP 2767-71. Again, in a departure of usual procedures, Shenk asked for and obtained McNab's notes, which are not usually shared with management, of her interviews with Kirsten Lawlor and others. 2/25/10 RP at 46-47. Shenk only asked McNab for the interview notes concerning one person: Lodis. <u>Id.</u> This was in January 2008 timeframe—the month after Shenk signed the letter congratulating Lodis on his promotion to Senior VP. <u>Id.</u> at 48; Ex. 61.

Allegedly based on the 360 evaluation results, Shenk put Lodis on a Performance Improvement Plan ("PIP"). 5/15 RP at 152. When Shenk told McNab that he wanted to use the material generated in the 360 evaluation to put Mr. Lodis on a PIP, she again told Shenk that "360's were normally not used in that way." 2/25/10 RP at 49. Shenk gave Lodis the PIP on March 6, 2008. 5/15 RP at 172. The PIP contained numerous inaccurate statements and findings with which Lodis disagreed. *See* 5/21 RP at 40-72, 83-86; CP 2524-60. Mr. Lodis systematically rebuts all of the allegations in the PIP. <u>Id</u>. As part of the PIP, Shenk directed Lodis to meet

with his subordinates regarding his 360. 5/15 RP at 189-91; Ex. 98 at 2-3; CP 2536-37. Lodis met with his staff and had brief meetings with his peers, then reported to Shenk what happened. 5/21 RP at 38-39, 190-92.

On March 26, 2008, Shenk terminated Lodis "for cause," allegedly for lying about the content of the meetings with his direct reports. 5/15 RP at 201, 204; Ex. 438 at 2. Days later (on or before April 2, 2008), Corbis reviewed Lodis's vacation recordation and his Outlook calendar and determined that Lodis had failed to report vacation he took, but had 34 days (or 272 hours) visible on his calendar. See Ex. 108. "Another executive of the company, Barry Allen, failed to document 15 days of vacation and has not been terminated or even reprimanded." CP 27 (Order). The executive assistant to Mr. Allen, who had knowledge of his work calendar, including vacation entries, as well as his vacation schedule, testified that she reported his vacation usage into the vacation reporting system. CP 3264-65 (¶ 4), CP 3306-14. Although Corbis General Counsel, Jim Mitchell, was informed Lodis had not reported any vacation usage, the company paid Lodis a gross vacation time payout of \$41,555 plus a 401k match of \$1,235, for 329 hours of accrued but unused vacation time on April 11, 2008. See Ex. 108; CP 3270; Lodis I, 172 Wn. App. at 845.

2. Procedural Background.

Lodis then filed an RCW 49.60.210 claim for retaliation. See Lodis

<u>I</u>, 172 Wn. App. at 844. His claim was premised on being terminated after he complained about Shenk potentially discriminating against other executives based on age. *See* <u>id.</u> at 843-44. Alternatively, Lodis claimed that *he* was terminated based on age. <u>Id.</u> The trial court granted summary judgment on the retaliation claim, concluding "Lodis was not engaged in statutorily protected activity under RCW 49.60.210, because he was simply performing his job duties by warning Shenk about the potential age discrimination." <u>Id.</u> The Court of Appeals disagreed, declining to strip the Senior VP of HR and others whose job duties include "ensuring ... compliance with federal and state employment laws" of the protections afforded by RCW 49.60.210. <u>Id.</u> at 850-52.

· •

Before the Court of Appeals reinstated Lodis's retaliation claim, two trials took place. In the first trial, the jury rendered a verdict on Lodis's age discrimination claim and on counterclaims filed by Corbis. <u>Id.</u> at 842, 845. The counterclaims were based on the fact that "Lodis failed to record any vacation time in the payroll system during his tenure, but accepted a payout of \$41,155 plus a 401(k) match of \$1,235 for 329 hours of accrued but unused vacation time" after Corbis terminated him. <u>Id.</u>, at 845. The first jury found Corbis and Shenk did not discriminate against Lodis based on his age. Ex. 484. As to the counterclaims, the first jury found Lodis was not unjustly enriched and did not engage in fraud. <u>Lodis</u>

<u>I</u>, 172 Wn. App. at 845. On the breach of fiduciary duty counterclaim, the first verdict favored Corbis, but awarded no damages. <u>Id.</u> A new trial was granted on that counterclaim. <u>Id.</u> The second jury found Lodis did not breach his fiduciary duty by receiving and retaining a March 2006 bonus, but did breach his fiduciary duty by failing to report vacation time he used and receiving a payout for allegedly unused vacation time after he was terminated. <u>Id.</u>, at 845-46. As damages, it awarded the full amount of the vacation payout, which Lodis repaid to Corbis. <u>Id.</u>; 5/19 RP at 163.

· ·

On remand for the first (and only) trial of the retaliation claim, Corbis asserted an after-acquired evidence defense and moved for summary judgment on the defense. *See* CP 27-28. In denying the motion, the court wrote, in part, "it has already been established that Lodis' failure to record any vacation time constituted a breach of fiduciary duty. [Lodis I], 172 Wn. App. [at] 861... however, no jury has ruled on the question of whether Corbis would have terminated Lodis had it known of his failure to report any vacation time." <u>Id.</u> The order acknowledged, "There is of course no requirement that the company establish breach of fiduciary duty in order to prevail on an after-acquired evidence theory." <u>Id.</u>; *accord* 5/13 RP at 16-17 (The Court: "[W]e have two **distinct issues** here. One is: Did he violate, breach his fiduciary duty? ... That's not the issue in the context of the after-acquired evidence defense."); *and* 5/21 RP at 77 (same).

Corbis then filed a motion in limine to preclude re-litigation of Lodis's breach of fiduciary duty and to introduce evidence of the verdict. CP 275-86. Corbis argued the "law of the case" and "collateral estoppel" doctrines barred relitigation of the "fact that Steven Lodis breached his fiduciary duty to Corbis." CP 280-82. Lodis opposed the motion, as the issues in the two cases were "not identical," and he objected to "admission of any evidence related to the vacation issue." See CP 344-50. The court granted Corbis's motion, finding the "verdict against Lodis regarding breach of fiduciary duty is the law of the case," CP 3322, and that the jury would be allowed "to hear that a prior jury found that Mr. Lodis violated his breach of fiduciary duty by failing to record his vacation time." 5/14 RP at 4-5. The court's stated reason for admission of the verdict was that the after-acquired evidence defense put at issue whether Lodis's failure to record vacation time was "serious," such that "if [Corbis] had known about it, they would have terminated" Lodis; and the prior verdict was "clearly *relevant* to the seriousness issue." Id. The Court of Appeals adopted this reasoning in affirming the trial court's decision. Op., at A-26.

Lodis separately filed a motion in limine to exclude all evidence related to his vacation time reporting, including the verdict on breach of fiduciary duty. *See* CP 789-99. Lodis argued the evidence should be excluded as irrelevant, arguing "Corbis cannot show any 'practice' of

terminating employees for not recording vacation. ... Corbis' own witness, Vivian Farris, testified ... that it was not a terminable offense to fail to record vacation time, though it was a violation of company policy," CP 794 (*citing* 3/3/10 RP at 63); that Shenk's "opinion testimony without more, cannot support the after acquired evidence defense," CP 794; and because "the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury outweighs any relevancy." CP 798. At the hearing on pre-trial motions, Lodis also argued evidence of the jury finding he breached his fiduciary duty required an ER 608 analysis and that the verdict did not meet the standard for admitting character evidence. 5/13 RP at 23. The court denied Lodis's motion in limine. 5/13 RP at 10-11.

In opening statement, counsel for Corbis confused the issues and misstated the evidence, claiming "Shenk waited until he couldn't wait any longer to finally terminate Mr. Lodis for breaching his fiduciary duties and his duties of loyalty." 5/15 RP at 44. Counsel further said, "Corbis had to sue Steve Lodis to get back more than \$42,000 that he had accepted and retained for unused vacation pay. Corbis paid out this money after Steve Lodis was terminated because they didn't know he hadn't reported any of his vacation. The jury found that Lodis had breached his fiduciary duty by seeking to profit at the company's expense." <u>Id.</u> at 55.

Counsel told the jury this was "important to understanding just

how credible or not Steve Lodis is." <u>Id.</u>, at 56. Counsel claimed, "Lodis had been breaching his fiduciary duty almost every day that he was employed at Corbis" and "sought to profit at the company's expense." <u>Id.</u> at 69. Counsel told the jury, it is "up to you to ... determine who is telling the truth and who is trying to profit at someone else's expense." <u>Id.</u>, at 71. He said Lodis "breached his fiduciary duty, and he got caught. He accepted a payment he wasn't entitled to, and he got caught. He tried to con Gary and Corbis, and he got caught." <u>Id.</u> During Shenk's examination by his counsel, Shenk said Lodis had been "stealing time." 5/19 RP at 153.

Counsel similarly criminalized Lodis, describing him as having been found "guilty" of breaching his fiduciary duty. 5/22 RP at 36. Counsel asked Lodis, *inter alia*: "You steadfastly denied under oath that you breached your fiduciary duties to Corbis?" 5/22 RP at 63; "you want this jury ... just like the two other juries, to believe you?" <u>id.</u>, at 63; "you have two verdicts against you. You have been litigating this case for six years with nothing to show for it other than you had to write a check to Corbis." <u>id.</u>, at 39; "Everything that you have just testified about regarding alleged age discrimination was stuff that you brought out in that [prior] case? ... We have already been here, right, and it resulted in a verdict against you? ...[T]he justifications you just offered? You made those in the second trial regarding your vacation and breach of fiduciary duty." <u>id.</u>,

at 109; "You have every reason to fabricate your testimony in front of this jury in the hope of finally scoring a win, don't you, Mr. Lodis?" <u>id.</u>, at 64.

In closing, Corbis described Lodis, as "a person who testified under oath in front of you and in front of two separate juries and failed to convince them with his stories; that he still thinks somehow he can win. Sure enough, Steve Lodis is back for a third bite of the apple. I told you he would ask ... for millions of dollars based on his excuses and lies. Sure enough, that's what he is asking you to do, just as he asked two juries before you unsuccessfully." 5/29 RP at 155-56. "Steve Lodis ... denied that he told you any lies, ... just like he would deny he told any lies to any of the other juries." Id., at 157. "What did the jury say? They said Steve Lodis breached his fiduciary duty by failing to report all that." Id., at 174. "Would that same person who was willing to steal from the company, willing to steal time, willing to breach his fiduciary duty, would that person be willing to make up a story in order to get money from the company?" Id., at 184. "Two prior juries found against Steve Lodis; found in favor of Gary Shenk and Corbis. He is making the same allegations here, ladies and gentlemen. When is enough enough?" Id., at 186. After these arguments, the court instructed the jury "the prior jury verdict related to age discrimination against Mr. Lodis is no longer an issue." Id., at 187.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The Adoption of the After-Acquired Evidence Defense Presents Issues Of Substantial Public Interest.

. .

The Washington Law Against Discrimination "seeks to remedy an evil that ... 'menaces the institutions and foundation of a free democratic state." <u>Reese v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.</u>, 107 Wn.2d 563, 569 (1987), *quoting* RCW 49.60.010. "The overarching purpose of the law is to deter and to eradicate discrimination in Washington." <u>Brown v. Scott Paper</u> <u>Worldwide Co.</u>, 143 Wn.2d 349, 360 (2001). "The legislature directs us to construe the WLAD liberally." Scrivener, 181 Wn.2d at 441.

Divisions One and Three of the Court of Appeals have adopted a defense that limits economic damages to the victims of discrimination and retaliation when an employer uncovers "after-acquired evidence" of misconduct by the employee-plaintiff. *See* A-25–A-28, *citing* Janson v. N. Valley Hosp., 93 Wn. App. 892, 899-900, 971 P.2d 67 (1999) (adopting standard stated in McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publ'g Co., 513 U.S. 352, 360-63, 115 S. Ct. 879, 130 L. Ed. 2d 852 (1995)). Such defense is harmful to the public and enforcement of the WLAD for several reasons:

- it invites employers to engage in invasive discovery practices that discourage employee claims and to present otherwise inadmissible evidence in court that unduly prejudices employees;
- 2) it undercuts the law's effort to generate awareness of important social issues and lets employers off the hook for socially harmful behavior;
- 3) it reinforces the notion that certain plaintiffs are less morally deserving than others of the court's intervention; and

4) it greatly disadvantages those employees who are most likely to need remedial action for harm suffered in the workplace, by subjecting them to a level of scrutiny not faced in the ordinary course of employment by other employees.

Joseph Spadola, *An Ad Hoc Rationalization of Employer Wrongdoing: The Dangers of the After-Acquired Evidence Defense*, 102 Cal. L. Rev. 691, 694-95 (2014). Several commentators have called for the defense to be abolished. *See id.; see also* Melissa Hart, *Retaliatory Litigation Tactics: The Chilling Effects of "After-Acquired Evidence,"* 40 Ariz. St. L.J. 401, 435-38 (2008); *and* Sachin S. Pandya, *Unpacking the Employee-Misconduct Defense*, 14 U. Pa. J. Bus. L. 867, 868 (2012) (concluding that "virtually no sound reason currently exists for adopting the defense... because the defense, in its current forms, contravenes the restorative (make-whole) purposes of the work laws into which it has been read").

Enforcement of the WLAD is undermined by the defense, which allows employers to "derail the discussion about discrimination and start talking about whether [an otherwise irrelevant] company policy was violated," Hart, *supra* at 432-33, and "allows the employer to undermine the employee during trial in ways that the Rules of Evidence otherwise forbid as irrelevant and unduly prejudicial." Spadola, *supra*, at 722; *see* ER 608(b).³ Thus, the defense has "precisely the chilling effect that the

³ "ER 608 provides that specific instances of a witness's conduct, introduced for the

anti-retaliation ... law[s] were designed to prevent." Hart, supra, at 438.

Every single WLAD case will be investigated for the potential of an after-acquired evidence defense, unless the Court determines the defense has no application to WLAD claims. See Hart, supra, at 425, 433, 406 (stating "[t]he kind of conduct that most frequently supports the defense is reportedly common"---"[g]enerally [employers] will find something if they look hard enough"---and that as "the efficacy of the after-acquired evidence tactic has not escaped the attention of defense counsel, ... one can anticipate the extensive and effective use of the ... doctrine"). See also William S. Waldo & Rosemary A. Mahar, Lost Cause and Found Defense: Using Evidence Discovered After an Employee's Discharge to Bar Discrimination Claims, 9 LAB.LAW. 31, 32, 40–42 (1993) (advising defense counsel to "leave no stone unturned in ferreting out any evidence" of résumé fraud or employment misconduct by conducting "a thorough post-termination investigation"); and McKennon, 513 U.S. at 363 (recognizing that "[t]he concern that employers might as a routine matter undertake extensive discovery into an employee's background or performance on the job to resist claims under the Act is not

purpose of attacking his or her credibility, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence, but may 'in the discretion of the court, if probative of truthfulness or untruthfulness, be inquired into [only] on cross examination of the witness ... concerning the witness' character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." <u>State v. O'Connor</u>, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 119 P.3d 806, (2005) (emphasis in original), quoting ER 608(b).

an insubstantial one"). Thus, there is a substantial public interest in Washington courts' adoption of the after-acquired evidence defense.

.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decisions Adopting the Defense Are In Conflict With The Supreme Court Decision in <u>Scrivener</u>.

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