RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Apr 18, 2016, 4:14 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 92900-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 72342-1-I

STEVEN LODIS and DEBORAH LODIS, a marital community,

Petitioners,

v.

CORBIS HOLDINGS, INC., a Washington corporation, CORBIS CORPORATION, a Nevada corporation, and GARY SHENK, an individual,

Respondents.

Answer to Petition for Discretionary Review

Submitted by:

Jeffrey A. James Jennifer A. Parda-Aldrich SEBRIS BUSTO JAMES 14205 S.E. 36th Street, Suite 325 Bellevue, WA 98006 Tel: (425) 454-4233 Fax: (425) 453-9005

Attorneys for Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT SUPPORTING DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. The Appellate Court's Opinion Affirming the Trial Court's Evidentiary Rulings is Consistent with *Roper, MCIC, Fin.* and *Pouncy.*

The appellate court correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling on the admissibility of the prior jury verdicts on evidentiary grounds. *See* Opinion, at 18 (age discrimination verdict) and 26 (breach of fiduciary duty verdict). There is no basis for this Court to review

¹⁶ After the jury rendered its verdict, Lodis filed a renewed CR 50 motion on Corbis's afteracquired evidence defense on identical grounds, which the trial Court similarly denied. (CP 2015-2039; 2414-2415)

those evidentiary rulings¹⁷ In an effort to avoid this result, Lodis mischaracterizes the trial court's rulings as rulings made under the doctrine collateral estoppel. A review of the record makes abundantly clear that they were not, as the appellate court properly held. *See* Opinion, at 19 and 26.

The trial court initially ruled that the age discrimination verdict was inadmissible, a ruling that Corbis did not contest. CP 3322. Thereafter, the trial court exercised its discretion under evidentiary principles and reversed its prior ruling out of concerns of unfair prejudice after Lodis repeatedly introduced inadmissible evidence that unfairly allowed the jury to infer that Shenk was biased against older workers. 5/21 RP 126-127, 134-135. The appellate court properly held that the trial court's ruling was consistent with evidentiary principals and not an abuse of discretion. Opinion, at 26.

Similarly, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in ruling that the jury's verdict on Corbis' breach of fiduciary duty claim was relevant and admissible under the rules of evidence. 5/14 RP 4-5; 5/15 RP 6-7. The trial court specifically reasoned that "[t]he fact that a prior jury found that [Lodis] breached his fiduciary duty is clearly relevant to the seriousness issue" underlying Corbis' after-acquired evidence defense. 5/14 RP 4. The trial court's decision to not allow re-litigation of the fact of Lodis' breach of

¹⁷ RAP 13.4(b).

fiduciary duty was appropriate under ER 403. The trial court's rulings are entirely consistent with *Roper v. Mabry*, 15 Wn. App. 819, 551 P.2d 1381 (1976), in which the court also exercised its discretion in admitting portions of the findings of fact from the prior action.¹⁸ See id., at 822-23.

The law of the case doctrine, although not determinative in the admission of the prior breach of fiduciary duty verdict, was properly applied. This Court's opinion in *MGIC Fin. Corp. v. H. A. Briggs Co.*, 24 Wn. App. 1, 8, 600 P.2d 573, 577-78 (1979) provides that the law of the case "generally" applies to identical issues raised on successive appeals. *See* Petition, at 8. In subsequent opinions, however, this Court has specifically recognized that the law of the case doctrine "means different things in different circumstances,"¹⁹ and has held that under the doctrine the parties and the trial court are bound by the holdings of an appellate court on a prior appeal until such time as they are overruled. *Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Assocs.*, 176 Wn.2d 662, 669, 295 P.3d 231 (2013).

¹⁸ In the analogous situation presented in *Roper*, the trial court made findings of fact in a prior civil action. In the subsequent action, the trial court did not apply the doctrines of res judicata or collateral estoppel, but did make evidentiary rulings as to the admission of the prior findings of fact, admitting some, but not all, of those findings. *Id.*, 15 Wn. App. at 822-23. In finding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion, the Court of Appeals noted that "[t]he trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the propriety of interrogation and the admissibility of evidence" and further noted that the trial judge gave the jury an appropriate instruction regarding the use of the prior findings. *Id.* As in *Roper*, the trial court's evidentiary ruling here with respect to the second verdict was well within its discretion and was properly affirmed by the appellate court. *See* Opinion, at 26.

¹⁹ Roberson v. Perez, 156 Wn.2d 33, 41, 123 P.3d 844 (2005).

The appellate court's Opinion is consistent with this principal, recognizing that the law of the case doctrine is incorporated into the Rules of Appellate Procedure requiring that "the decision of the appellate court establishes the law of the case and it must be followed by the trial court on remand." Opinion, at 23 (internal quotations and citations omitted). Thus, as the appellate court properly concluded, the doctrine prohibited Lodis from relitigating the fact of his breach. *Id.*, at 24. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by "declin[ing] Lodis's invitation to undermine both the jury's verdict and the appellate court's mandate in contravention of the law of the case doctrine" (Opinion, at 24) and by admitting the prior breach of fiduciary duty verdict as relevant to Corbis' after-acquired evidence defense. Opinion, at 26.

This Court's decision in *In re Det. of Pouncy*, 168 Wn.2d 382, 393, 229 P.3d 678 (2010), upon which Lodis relies, addresses the admission of factual findings entered by a different court in an unrelated proceeding concluding that the scientific methodology employed by the defendant's expert witness failed to satisfy the "*Frye* test."²⁰ *See Pouncy*, at 393-94. This Court held that the factual findings were inadmissible under ER 402 and 403 because a *Frye* hearing had not been requested in *Pouncy*. *Id.*, at 393.

²⁰ See Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (1923).

Thus, admission of the prior factual findings had no relevance and served only as an impermissible method of impeaching the defendant's expert witness.²¹ *Id.* Thus, *Pouncy* is inapposite to the trial court's admission of the breach of fiduciary duty jury verdict here, which was decided by a jury and later upheld by the appellate court in these same proceedings and is directly relevant to Corbis' after-acquired evidence defense.

B. The Appellate Court's Decision Affirming the Trial Court's Discretionary Evidentiary Rulings Limiting the Admission of Alleged Age Discrimination is Consistent with *Brundridge*.

To support his retaliation claim, Lodis had to prove he reasonably believed the activity about which he allegedly complained was unlawful.²² The trial court's pretrial ruling relies on this distinction in admitting only those allegations of age discrimination that formed the basis of "the conduct [Lodis] complained of." *See Renz*, 114 Wn. App., at 619; CP 3322.

The trial court's discretionary ruling in this regarding—limiting Lodis' admission of evidence of alleged age discrimination to those alleged acts about which Lodis claimed to have admonished Shenk—is entirely consistent with this Court's opinion in *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 191 P.3d 879 (2008). (CP 3322). In *Brundridge*, this Court

²¹ The prior factual findings additionally constituted inadmissible hearsay. *Id.*, at 394-95.

 ²² See CP 2003 (Jury Instruction No. 9); *Renz v. Spokane Eye Clinic, P.S.*, 114 Wn. App. 611, 619, 60 P.3d 106 (2002).

held that evidence of an employer's retaliatory treatment of other employees is admissible to show retaliatory discharge. *Brundridge*, 164 Wn. at 445-46. Here, in its pretrial ruling limiting the admission of alleged age discrimination, the trial court specifically noted that evidence of prior acts of *retaliation* by Shenk would be relevant and admissible to Lodis' retaliation claim, citing *Brundridge*.²³

Contrary to his assertion, the mere fact that Lodis was required to establish his "reasonable belief" does not mean any alleged ageist comments automatically became relevant, especially when Lodis did not see fit to admonish Shenk about such alleged comments, as the trial court specifically recognized.²⁴ If anything, that Lodis concluded the additional information was not worth mentioning shows it lacks probative value. As such, the trial court acted well within its discretion and consistent with *Brundridge* in its rulings regarding the admissibility of evidence of alleged age discrimination.

C. No Substantial Public Interest Requires This Court to Eliminate the After-Acquired Evidence Defense.

The after-acquired evidence rule is well established and widely recognized as providing employers with a possible defense to employee

²³ CP 3322 ("*Brundridge* would allow Lodis to introduce evidence of retaliatory behavior by Shenk towards other employees.").

²⁴ CP 3322 (recognizing no relevant connection between alleged ageist remarks and retaliatory motives); 5/13 RP 54-55 ("[E]ven if we assume . . . that Mr. Shenk had it in for older people, it does not make it more probable than not that he would retaliate against someone for raising complaints about him."); see also ER 401; 402.

claims of wrongful discharge brought under federal or state discrimination laws.²⁵ Despite Lodis' assertion that "[s]everal commentators have called for the defense to be abolished," research has uncovered not a single opinion in any jurisdiction in which the after-acquired evidence defense has been rejected or its adoption reversed.²⁶ Instead, the defense continues to be widely recognized and applied in courts across the country, including in Washington since 1999. See Janson v. N. Valley Hosp., 93 Wn. App. 892, 971 P.2d 67 (1999) (adopting after-acquired evidence defense as articulated in by the United States Supreme Court in *McKennon*). In the nearly 20 years that have followed, this Court has not seen fit to review or reject the defense, and Lodis offers no compelling reason why the Court should do so now. Indeed, the very law review articles upon which Lodis relies recognize that public policy is furthered by the defense's application where an employee's misconduct is sufficiently egregious, including "willful or malicious attempts to undermine an employer's business, or other outrageous conduct designed to injure staff, customers or supervisors."²⁷ Cf., Lodis I, 172 Wn. App. at 861

 ²⁵ See McKennon v. Nashville Banner Publ'g Co., 513 U.S. 352, 361-62, 115 S. Ct. 879, 130 L. Ed. 2d 852 (1995). Research reflects that McKennon has been followed by each of the United States Courts of Appeal in all 11 circuits as well as by state courts in 40 states.
 ²⁶ Notably, Lodis cites to no such opinion in his Petition and, instead, relies solely on three law review articles in support of his position.

²⁷ See, e.g., Joseph Spadola, An Ad Hoc Rationalization of Employer Wrongdoing: The Dangers of the After-Acquired Evidence Defense, 102 Cal. L. Rev. 691 (2014), at 75 (recognizing that "[f]from a moral and policy perspective, some forms of employee misconduct are sufficiently egregious" such that the after-acquired evidence defense "seems less problematic.")

("It was for the jury to find, based on the evidence, that Lodis profited at the company's expense by not recording any vacation time, thereby breaching his fiduciary duties of undivided loyalty and care.")

Here, as the appellate court correctly held, the trial court did not abuse its discretion admitting evidence relevant to Corbis' after-acquired evidence defense. *See* Opinion, at 24, 26. That Lodis is not happy with that outcome does not support a conclusion that there is a substantial public interest in eliminating the after-acquired evidence defense adopted in *Janson*. On the contrary, this case exemplifies the proper application of the defense.

D. Lodis' New Policy Argument that the After-Acquired Evidence Defense Conflicts with the WLAD's "Substantial Factor" Test Should not be Considered by This Court and Fails Regardless.

As Lodis concedes, in his Petition he raises a "policy argument" that he did not raise before the trial court, namely, that an "inconsistency" exists between Washington's "substantial factor" test and the after-acquired evidence defense. *See* Petition, at 16-18 and n.5. Because Lodis failed to previously raise this issue with the trial court, it need not be considered by this Court.²⁸ *See, e.g.*, RAP 2.5(a) (court may decline to consider new issues raised by an appellant that were not raised to the trial court); *Brown v.*

²⁸ In an effort to avoid this outcome, Lodis asserts that this Court "is warranted" in considering the issue because it "raises serious public policy questions." *See* Petition, at 18, n.5. As described above, the co-existence of the after-acquired evidence defense and anti-discrimination laws and remedies is well established under federal and state law. No "serious public policy" questions warrant this Court's review of Lodis' argument.

Safeway Stores, 94 Wn.2d 359, 369 (1980) ("Issues not raised before the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal.").

Regardless, Lodis' assertion has no merit. The after-acquired evidence defense in no way impacts employer liability under the WLAD's "substantial factor" test, under which liability is imposed when discrimination substantially motivates an employer's termination decision.²⁹ Instead, it serves to limit damages for wages that the employee might have earned after the time the dischargeable offense was discovered "only if [the employer] can prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have fired the employee for that misconduct." *O'Day v. McDonnell Douglas Helicopter Co.*, 79 F.3d 756, 761 (9th Cir. 1996). Thus, as articulated by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in *O'Day*, the after-acquired evidence defense is consistent with a mixed-motive criterion, insofar as it operates only to limit an employee's ability to collect wages to which the employee otherwise would not be entitled as a direct result of his or her terminable actions.

IV. CONCLUSION

For each of the above reasons, this Court should deny review.